
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

 

1) JAMES C. PAYNE,     ) 

        ) 

  Plaintiff,     ) 

vs.        ) 

        )      

1) DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS OF  ) 

THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA;   ) 

2) BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISIONERS OF  ) 

PITTSBURG COUNTY;    ) 

3) PITTSBURG COUNTY SHERIFF’S DEPT.; ) 

4) JOEL KERNS, Sheriff of Pittsburg County, )  Case No.:  CIV-12-407-JHP 

 in his Official and Individual Capacity;  ) 

5) PITTSBURG COUNTY JAIL;   ) 

6) MISSY ELDRIDGE, in her individual capacity  ) 

as Pittsburg County Jail Administrator;  ) 

7) JOHN DOES 1-30, Employees of the Pittsburg   ) 

County Sheriff’s Office;    ) 

8) JOHN DOES 31-60, Employees of the Pittsburg ) 

County Jail,       ) Attorney Lien Claimed 

       ) Jury Trial Demanded 

 Defendants.     ) 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 COMES NOW the Plaintiff James C. Payne ("Plaintiff"), and submits his First Amended 

Complaint asserting their causes of action against the Defendants. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION & VENUE 

1. The Plaintiff is a resident of McAlester, Pittsburg County, State of Oklahoma. 

2. Defendant State of Oklahoma is a state governmental entity. 

3. Defendant Oklahoma Department of Corrections (“Corrections Department”) is a 

state agency operating and doing business in the State of Oklahoma. 

 4. At all times relevant, the Defendant Pittsburg County Sheriff's Department 

("Sheriff's Department") is a political subdivision of the State of Oklahoma responsible for 
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staffing, maintaining, and otherwise operating the Pittsburg County Jail ("County Jail") located 

in McAlester, Oklahoma.  

 5. At all times relevant Sheriff Joel Kerns ("Sheriff Kerns") was the Sheriff of 

Pittsburg County and his actions complained of were in his individual capacity. 

 6. The Defendant Oklahoma Board of County Commissioners of Pittsburg County 

("Pittsburg County") on behalf of the Sheriff’s Department and County Jail is properly named 

pursuant to 19 O.S. § 4.    

7. At all times relevant the Defendant Missy Eldridge (“Eldridge”) was the 

Administrator of the County Jail and her actions complained of were in her individual capacity. 

8. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant the Defendant John Does 1-30 

(“John Does 1-30”) were officers, agents, supervisors, policy makers and representatives of the 

Sheriff’s Department, County Jail and/or Pittsburg County.  Such individuals are unknown or 

presently known only by his or her job description and title; however their identities will be 

obtained during discovery. 

9. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant Defendant John Does 31-60 

(“John Does 31-60”) were officers, agents, supervisors, policy makers and representatives of the 

Department of Corrections.  Such individuals are unknown or presently known only by his or her 

job description and title; however their identities will be obtained during discovery. 

10. The jurisdictional basis for this Court to determine this cause of action is pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 as this cause of action arises under federal law. The Court likewise has 

supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s tort claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 
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11. Venue is properly laid in the Eastern District of Oklahoma pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391(b) as the incidents giving rise to this action occurred in Pittsburg County, State of 

Oklahoma. 

 12. The Plaintiff represents to this Court that he complied with the Notice provisions 

in Oklahoma’s Governmental Tort Claims Act, 51 O.S. § 151, et. seq. (“GTCA”), in that he 

provided Pittsburg, Sheriff’s Department, County Jail, and Corrections Department timely notice 

of the Plaintiff tort’s claims based upon his unlawful incarceration, and such claims were either 

expressly denied or denied by operation of law.  

FACTS APPLICABLE TO ALL CLAIMS 

 13.  In 2010, the Plaintiff was convicted of a felony stalking count and sentenced to 

five years of incarceration, with all but the first year suspended. At all times relevant the Plaintiff 

was serving the remainder of his essentially one year sentence with the Oklahoma Department of 

Corrections at the Detention Center.  

14. The Plaintiff was to be released from incarceration on June 11, 2011.  

 15. In early-May 2011, the Plaintiff contacted Eldridge and advised her of his 

upcoming June 2011 release date. He further requested whether he had any obligations or 

responsibilities pertaining to his release and inquired if it were possible to be released early.  

  16. In mid-May 2011, the Plaintiff spoke with Eldridge reminding her that his 

scheduled release date was June 11, 2011. Eldridge advised the Plaintiff he might receive early 

release if credited for the incarcerated time period he served prior to his conviction. After the 

Plaintiff advised Eldridge that this credit was not-applicable to him, Eldridge walked away from 

him laughing. 
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17.  After the Plaintiff’s released date passed, the Plaintiff began complaining to his 

jailers, specifically Lt. Nick Adams, guard Josiah (last name presently unknown), and guard John 

O’Dell (“O’Dell”).  

 18. Lt. Adams frequently laughed at the Plaintiff’s complaints about his prolonged 

incarceration and even stated the county made money from the Corrections Department by 

keeping the Plaintiff jailed.  

19. Lt. Adams further told the Plaintiff that if he would essentially “stop taking his 

medications” the Plaintiff would be freed. 

  20. Each time the Plaintiff spoke with Eldridge about his release from incarceration 

Eldridge advised him that this decision was left to the Corrections Department. 

21. In mid-June 2011 at a point after his required released date had already passed, 

the Plaintiff spoke with Eldridge about his release, complaining to her that he was supposed to 

have been released from incarceration.  Eldridge once again laughed at the Plaintiff and blamed 

his continued incarceration on the Corrections Department. Eldridge had no further 

conversations with the Plaintiff subsequent to this complaint. 

  22. In early August 2011, the Plaintiff complained to O’Dell about his prolonged 

incarceration, who in turn informed Eldridge of the Plaintiff’s complaint.  Eldridge confirmed to 

O’Dell that the Plaintiff was to have been released in June 2011. 

23. O’Dell informed the Plaintiff that Eldridge confirmed that he was to be released 

from his incarceration back in June 2011. O’Dell further informed the Plaintiff he would 

personally discuss the Plaintiff’s unlawful incarceration with Sheriff Kern. From that point 

through the remainder of the Plaintiff’s incarceration however, O’Dell was no longer interested 

in the Plaintiff’s plight and avoided him. 
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 24. The Plaintiff was ultimately released from his incarceration on September 6, 

2011--nearly three months after his sentence had been completed. The Plaintiff was provided no 

explanation for his release on that date, or the person responsible for arranging his release. 

25. The Plaintiff’s prolonged incarceration had no peneological justification. 

26. The Plaintiff had been incarcerated wrongfully, unlawfully and deprived of his 

liberty and freedom for nearly three (3) months beyond his release date. 

27. During the three months the Plaintiff was illegally incarcerated, all of his personal 

possessions which had been placed in storage in anticipation of his June 2011 release were sold 

by the storage facility in July 2011.  

28. Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and other employees of Pittsburg County, Sheriff’s 

Department, or the County Jail and the Department of Corrections had no policy or procedure in 

place for those such as the Plaintiff who were complaining of prolonger and wrongful 

incarceration to obtain relief. 

29. Each time the Plaintiff complained to supervisory level employees of the 

Pittsburg County, Sheriff’s Department, or the County Jail he was ridiculed, laughed at, belittled, 

and ultimately ignored. Upon information and belief, after O’Dell took the Plaintiff’s complaints 

to Sheriff Kerns, O’Dell was rebuked and commanded to no longer have conversations with the 

Plaintiff pertaining to his prolonged and wrongful incarceration. 

30. Each of the Defendants at all relevant times pertinent to the Plaintiff’s claims 

acted under color of state law. While acting under color of state law, each of the Defendants 

deprived the Plaintiff of his federal constitutional and civil rights. 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (CIVIL RIGHTS) 

PLAINTIFF vs. DEFENDANT PITTSBURG COUNTY, SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT, 

COUNTY JAIL AND DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 

 

For his First Cause of Action against the Defendants Pittsburg County, Sheriff’s 

Department, and County Jail, the Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all of his allegations above as if 

fully set forth herein and further alleges and states as follows: 

31. Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, and County Jail employees such as 

Eldridge, O’Dell, Lt. Adams, and Josiah, and the Department of Corrections along with those 

persons to be revealed upon the completion of discovery, knew the Plaintiff’s incarceration 

exceeded his prison sentence. 

32. Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, and County Jail acted, failed to act, or 

acted ineffectively under the subject circumstances in response to the Plaintiff’s repeated 

complaints to be released from his wrongful and illegal incarceration. Such action was a result of 

the deliberate indifference to the Plaintiff’s rights and plight. 

33. Despite Plaintiff’s repeated and constant notices and complaints to the proper 

authorities, he remained jailed until September 6, 2011. The sole and exclusive basis for the 

Plaintiff’s illegal incarceration was the acts and omissions by Pittsburg County, Sheriff 

Department, County Jail and the Department of Corrections. 

34. Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, County Jail and Department of Corrections 

acting under color of statute, regulation, custom or law of the State of Oklahoma, caused the 

Plaintiff to be subjected to the deprivation of his rights, privileges, and immunities secured by 

the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States and its laws in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The acts of Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, and County Jail 
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were reckless, knowing, intentional, malicious and/or wanton violation of the Plaintiff’s rights 

and render them liable in an action at law or other proceeding for redress of the injuries 

sustained.  

35. Upon information and belief, Defendants Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, 

County Jail and Department of Corrections promulgated the policies and procedures pursuant to 

which the County Jail ensured that those incarcerated were not serving prolonged or unlawful 

prison sentences. 

 36. Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, County Jail and Department of Corrections 

knew the deficiencies they had with policy, rules, and regulations and willfully and intentionally 

refused to undertake the necessary remedial efforts to protect prisoners such as the Plaintiff from 

prolonged and unlawful incarceration.  

37. Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, County Jail and Department of Corrections 

knew of the threat of harm and injury posed to the Plaintiff and other citizens and acted with 

deliberate indifference to the Plaintiff’s constitutional rights.  Indeed, Defendants’ failure to 

adequately and properly train its officers, guards and employees constitutes deliberate 

indifference to the rights of persons such as the Plaintiff. 

38. Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, County Jail and Department of Corrections 

were responsible for properly training and supervising its officers, guards and employees to 

protect the constitutional rights of the citizens. By allowing its officers, guards and employees to 

violate the rights of the Plaintiff by confining him well-beyond his release date and in allowing 

its officers, guards and employees to ignore the notices, complaints and pleas from the Plaintiff, 

Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, County Jail and Department of Corrections was 
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deliberately indifferent to the unconstitutional actions of its officers, guards and employees even 

if its own policies or customs are not unconstitutional. 

39. Alternatively, Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, County Jail and Department 

of Corrections had a policy or custom of failing to properly train and supervise its officers, 

guards and employees to protect the constitutional rights of the citizens, and by failing to 

perform the foregoing, allowed its officers, guards and employees to violate the rights of the 

Plaintiff and have been deliberately indifferent to the unconstitutional actions of its officers, 

guards and employees. 

40. The actions of Pittsburg County, Sheriff Department, County Jail and Department 

of Corrections violated the Plaintiff’s constitutional rights under the Eighth and Fourteenth 

Amendment causing him harm and damages. Indeed, the violations of the policies of these 

Defendants are so prevalent they amount to a custom or practice that has been ratified by the 

condoning of the same.  By their failure to adopt proper and constitutional policies and customs, 

they created an environment wherein its officers, guards and employees were able to freely and 

without fear of discipline violate the rights of the citizens such as the Plaintiff. 

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff James C. Payne prays the Court for 

Judgment against the Defendants Pittsburg County, Sheriff’s Department, and County Jail, and 

award him compensatory damages in excess of $75,000, prejudgment and post judgment interest, 

attorney’s fees incurred, and any other relief deemed just and equitable. 

 

 

 

 

6:12-cv-00407-JHP   Document 11   Filed in ED/OK on 10/22/12   Page 8 of 14



9 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (CIVIL RIGHTS) 

PLAINTIFF vs. SHERIFF KERNS, ELDRIDGE, and JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS 

 

For his Second Cause of Action against the Defendants Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and the 

John Doe Defendants, the Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all of his allegations above as if fully set 

forth herein and further alleges and states as follows: 

41. Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and the John Doe Defendants, acting under color of 

statute, regulation, custom or law of the State of Oklahoma, caused the Plaintiff to be subjected 

to the deprivation of his rights, privileges, and immunities secured by the Eighth and Fourteenth 

Amendments of the Constitution of the United States and its laws in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 

1983. The acts of Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and the John Doe Defendants was reckless, knowing, 

intentional, malicious and/or wanton violation of the Plaintiff’s rights and renders them liable in 

an action at law or other proceeding for redress of the injuries sustained.  

 42.  At all times relevant herein, Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and John Doe Defendants 

were supervisors and/or policy makers for the County Jail which promulgated, employed, and/or 

organized unlawful and illegal customs and practice. 

 43. Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and John Doe Defendants have a duty and responsibility 

for training Pittsburg County, Sheriff’s Department, and County Jail officers to protect the 

constitutional and statutory rights of its citizens such as the Plaintiff. These Defendants knew and 

disregarded or otherwise did not follow departmental policy, rules, and regulations and willfully 

and intentionally refused to undertake the necessary remedial efforts.  Indeed, Defendant’s 

failure to adequately and properly train its officers constitutes deliberate indifference to the rights 

of persons such as the Plaintiff. 
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44. At all times relevant to the Plaintiff’s claims his were clearly established both 

statutorily and constitutionally and that Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge and the John Doe Defendants 

actions were unreasonable. The Plaintiff was deprived of his Fourteenth Amendment right to 

procedural due process, his Fourteenth Amendment substantive due process right to be 

free from arbitrary or conscience-shocking police conduct, and his Fourteenth Amendment 

right to equal protection of the laws.  

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff James C. Payne prays the Court for 

Judgment against the Defendants Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and the John Doe Defendants, and 

award him compensatory damages in excess of $75,000.00, award him punitive damages as to 

Kerns in his individual capacity and the John Doe Defendants in excess of $75,000.00, 

prejudgment and post judgment interest, attorneys' fees incurred, and any other relief deemed 

just and equitable. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

NEGLIGENCE AND NEGLIGENCE PER SE 

PLAINTIFF vs. PITTSBURG COUNTY, SHERIFF’S OFFICE, COUNTY JAIL 

AND DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS  

 

For his Third Cause of Action against the Corrections Department, Pittsburg County, 

Sheriff’s Department, and the County Jail, the Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all of his allegations 

above as if fully set forth herein and further alleges and states as follows: 

 45. These Defendants had a common law and statutory duty to train, supervise, 

monitor and discipline their officers, guards and employees, including termination, once it 

became known of the obvious signs of misconduct by them. 

 46. These Defendants owed common law and statutory duties to protect citizens such 

as the Plaintiff without limitation from the improper, unlawful and unconstitutional incarceration 
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he suffered. Such duties include without limitations Defendant’s failure to properly train, 

monitor, and supervise their officers, guards and employees. 

 47. Defendants breached the aforementioned duties they owed to citizens such as the 

Plaintiffs, and other common law and statutory duties owed to the Plaintiff that will be revealed 

during discovery, and as a direct and proximate result of said breaches caused injury to the 

Plaintiff. 

 48. The Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of the duties breached by 

Defendants, and other common law and statutory duties owed to the Plaintiff that will be 

revealed during discovery. Defendants are also responsible for the tortious acts of their officers, 

guards and employees against this Plaintiff as well as their own tortious acts against this 

Plaintiff.  Damages include severe emotional distress, loss of income, pain and suffering, mental 

pain and suffering, and impairment of earning capacity. 

 49. The Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of the duties breached by the 

Defendants, and other common law and statutory duties owed to the Plaintiff which will be 

revealed during discovery. These Defendants are also responsible for the tortious acts of Sheriff 

Kerns, Eldridge, and John Does and the damages inflicted therein which include severe 

emotional distress, loss of income, pain and suffering, mental pain and suffering, and impairment 

of earning capacity.  

 WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff James C. Payne prays the Court for 

Judgment against the Defendants Pittsburg County, Sheriff’s Department, and County Jail, and 

award him compensatory damages in excess of $75,000.00, prejudgment and post judgment 

interest, attorney’s fees incurred, and any other relief deemed just and equitable. 
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

PLAINTIFF vs. SHERIFF KERNS, ELDRIDGE, and the JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS  

 

For his Fourth Cause of Action against the Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and the John Doe 

Defendants, the Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all of their allegations above as if fully set forth 

herein and further alleges and states as follows: 

50. These Defendants’ actions were both intentional and reckless. Furthermore, the 

Defendants’ conduct was of an extreme and outrageous nature. 

51. The Plaintiff suffered and experienced emotional distress because of these 

Defendants’ actions and such distress was severe.  

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff James C. Payne prays the Court for 

Judgment against the Defendants Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and the John Doe Defendants, and 

award him compensatory damages in excess of $75,000.00, award him punitive damages in 

excess of $75,000.00, prejudgment and post judgment interest, attorneys' fees incurred, and any 

other relief deemed just and equitable. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

TORT CLAIM (ALTERNATIVELY PLED) 

PLAINTIFF vs. SHERIFF KERNS, ELDRIDGE, and the JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS 

 

For his Fifth Cause of Action against the Defendants Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, and the 

John Defendants, the Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all of their allegations above as if fully set 

forth herein and further alleges and states as follows: 

 52. The conduct of the Defendants Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, John Does 1-30, and Does 

31-40 complained of was with knowledge, reckless, malicious, wanton, and intentional to such a 

degree as to deprive them of any protection of the Oklahoma Governmental Tort Claims Act, 51 

O.S. § 151, et. seq.  
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 53. The Defendants Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, John Does 1-30, and Does 31-40 are 

therefore liable in tort to the Plaintiff for actual and punitive damages, and any other relief 

allowable by law. 

54. As a result of the unconstitutional and illegal actions by the Defendants, the 

Plaintiff endured a deprivation of his liberty, pain and suffering, humiliation, embarrassment, 

emotional distress and loss of society.  Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory damages and punitive 

damages from all Defendants for these injuries.   

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff James C. Payne prays the Court for 

Judgment against the Defendants Sheriff Kerns, Eldridge, John Does 1-30, and Does 31-40, and 

award compensatory damages in excess of $75,000.00, award him punitive damages in excess of 

five million dollars $75,000.00, prejudgment and post judgment interest, attorneys' fees incurred, 

and any other relief deemed just and equitable. 

Respectfully submitted, 

    

     By: /s/ J. Derek Ingle     

      J. DEREK INGLE, OBA# 16509 

      E. TERRILL CORLEY & ASSOCIATES 

      1809 East 15th Street 

      Tulsa, OK 74104-4610 

(918) 744-6641 - Telephone 

(918) 747-4921 - Facsimile 

 

      -and- 

 

E. ANTHONY MARESHIE, OBA#18180 

E. ANTHONY MARESHIE, P.L.L.C. 

6528 D-1 East 101st Street 

Box 208 

Tulsa, Oklahoma 74133-1202 

(918) 519-3771 - Telephone 

(918) 970-6927 – Facsimile 

Counsel for Plaintiff James C. Payne 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 This is to certify that on the _22nd_ day of October, 2012, a true and correct copy of the 

above and foregoing instrument was served upon all counsel of record via ECF electronic 

transmission: 

 

CHARLES DIXON 

Oklahoma Office of the Attorney General 

313 NE 21st Street 

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105 

 

WELLON POE 

Collins, Zorn & Wagner, P.C. 

429 N.E. 50th Street, 2nd Floor 

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105-1815 

 

 

   By: /s/ J. Derek Ingle 
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